

MENTAL HEALTH POLICY

BROCKWOOD PARK SCHOOL

Last Review Date	8 Jul 2025
Policy endorsed by	The Trustees & School Management Committee
Policy is maintained by	Pastoral Coordinator and Head of Boarding
Next review date	August 2026
Review body	Pastoral Coordinator and School Management Committee

Table of contents

1 Introduction	2
2 Whole school approach	2
3 wellbeing at Brockwood	3
4 Roles and responsibilities	4
5 Mental health education	5
5.1 For students	5
5.1.1 Mental health presentation and essentials	6
5.1.2 ATWAMs on mental health	6
5.1.3 Healthy Living classes	6
5.1.4 Peer mentoring course	7
5.2 For staff	7
6 Response to Complex Mental Health Issues	8
6.1 Suicide Risk	8
Protocol for students on site identified as having suicidal thoughts:	8
Report - Observe - Review	8
6.2 Self Harm	9
Report - Observe - Review	9
7 External support	9
8 Safeguarding and confidentiality	10
9 Suitability and reasonable adjustments	10
10 Appendices	12
10.1 Mental Health Recognition and Response procedure (Annex A)	12
10.2 Mental Health Support sheet for students 2024/25 (school notice board)	13



1 Introduction

Recent developments in society, medicine and psychology have highlighted the importance of good mental health for the overall wellbeing and development of an individual. More awareness exists about the link between mental health, trauma, early childhood experiences and behaviour. Many mental health issues develop in the early teenage years and schools play an essential role in identifying issues and providing support for those in need.

The context of an international boarding school brings additional factors that can affect the mental health of students and staff. Many students leave their home for the first time when joining Brockwood, and their parents often live far away in other parts of the world. They live in close proximity with other students and can be affected by what other students experience.

Since its inception in 1969 and deeply embedded in its intentions, Brockwood has been focussing on providing excellent pastoral care and a warm, caring atmosphere in which students can face and learn about the issues of their inner life with the steady support of teachers, floor people, student advisers and other staff members. Further, and in recognition of the importance of family support in these matters, a collaborative approach among the school, students, and their families is considered essential.

Brockwood recognises the importance of the topic of mental health for all its students and staff and is committed to continue providing an education and atmosphere that positively contributes to the overall wellbeing of all members of the school, and to provide specific mental health support wherever needed.

This policy outlines the structures and processes in place at Brockwood to support good mental health and emotional wellbeing.

2 Whole school approach

Brockwood's intention is to educate the whole human being, encompassing academic, emotional, physical and spiritual aspects. Furthermore, at its core is the intention to understand oneself in relationship with others and the wider world. The school provides an atmosphere that is characterised by care, affection and a sense of friendship and equality, and that is free of fear.

Learning at Brockwood is understood as an activity based on curiosity and understanding, rather than on fierce competition and the principles of reward and punishment. Students are able to express themselves in a safe environment where deeper questions can be asked and there is freedom to learn. While staff members naturally have more experience in life and in their subjects, they consider themselves psychologically equal to students.

Students have ample opportunities to express their voices and to participate in decision making processes, such as in Core Group meetings, school meetings, floor meetings, Inquiry Times and other forums for dialogue and discussion.

Students and staff embark together on a journey of self-discovery through relationships. Thank School is supported by the whole set-up of the school which enables small class sizes, living and working together as a whole community, and ample forums for discussion and dialogue. Healthy lifestyle choices are discussed throughout the year as a means of supporting students' wellbeing. Quality sleep is promoted through the no-device policy, the fixed bedtime at night and the relatively late start to the day in the morning. Outdoor work and contact with nature is part of our curriculum, and the whole school regularly engages in sports and exercises.

3 Wellbeing at Brockwood

One fundamental aspect in creating an environment that nurtures wellbeing at Brockwood is the restriction on smartphones and limited access to social media during the week. By minimising distractions and reducing exposure to potential online harms, students are encouraged to focus on their studies and develop healthier, stronger relationships with each other and within the community. This intentional approach helps create a balanced and more mindful learning environment.

Another essential element is the recognition of the significant impact sleep has on mental health. The school adopts a late start time, allowing students, including "night owls," to obtain a healthy amount of sleep. This commitment to prioritising rest ensures that students are well-rested, energised, and better equipped to engage in the life of the community and in their academic pursuits.

Regular exercise is integrated into the school's timetable, with sports activities scheduled three times a week in the afternoons. In addition, outdoor gardening and Human Ecology sessions provide opportunities for students to connect with nature and experience the numerous mental health benefits associated with spending time outdoors. Optional morning activities further enhance the physical wellbeing of students, encouraging them to engage in activities that promote a healthy lifestyle.

At Brockwood we put emphasis on agency and interest in learning rather than on fierce competition. By encouraging students to take ownership of their education and explore their passions, the school fosters a love for learning and promotes a positive attitude towards academic pursuits.

Central to our approach is also the creation of a tight-knit community and robust pastoral care system. Students benefit from a strong sense of belonging, peer support, and close relationships with caring staff members. This environment provides a safe and supportive space for students to share their challenges, seek guidance, and receive the necessary support to navigate their personal and academic journeys.

To ensure comprehensive mental health education, at Brockwood we offer a strong PSHE/RSE programme. Through ATWAMs, presentations, and Healthy Living classes, students receive age-appropriate information about stress, mental health, and wellbeing. These activities equip students with the knowledge and skills necessary to develop resilience, manage stress, and make informed decisions concerning their mental health.

The school also places a significant emphasis on silence and downtime, recognizing the valuer's School of being quiet and self-reflection. Each day we start with silence and throughout the day, students are provided with space and downtime to recharge and reflect.

The provision of healthy food and nutrition is paramount at Brockwood. Recognizing the vital connection between diet and mental health, the school ensures that students are offered well-balanced, nutritious meals each day. The school maintains an organic garden which is an acre in size. Students are encouraged to harvest fruit and vegetables and their meals are complemented by a diversity of organic, home grown food, during peak harvesting seasons.

Situated in a beautiful natural setting, surrounded by serene landscapes, students have the opportunity to enjoy the restorative effects of the natural environment by going on walks or spending time outdoors.

All these aspects create a whole-school atmosphere that contributes to positive mental health and a feeling of overall wellbeing. However, some students with stronger or pre-existing mental health issues or emotional trauma might need specialised (external) support which can be organised throughout the year.

4 Roles and responsibilities

All staff members are responsible for the creation of the special, caring atmosphere of the school and the pastoral care of the students as pointed out in our *Pastoral Care and Boarding Policy*. They will also be instrumental in the identification of mental health issues in students, and certain early help measures (see annex A in the appendix).

The Pastoral Coordinator acts as mental health lead of the school. Supported by all residential staff, the Pastoral Coordinator is responsible for overseeing the mental health of the student body, which includes identifying issues, putting in place early help measures as well as specialised support, and liaising with parents of students with specific mental health needs. The Pastoral Team (Pastoral Coordinator and Head of Boarding) are responsible for the mental health education of both students and staff.

All staff are trained to be able to identify and first-respond to mental health issues, as well as to pass this information on urgently to the Pastoral Coordinator. The Pastoral Team, consisting of the Pastoral Coordinator and the Head of Boarding, meets once a week (sometimes together with other selected staff members) to discuss pastoral and mental health related matters, including specific cases of students with mental health needs. In these meetings, early help measures are decided upon, action plans devised and, if needed, external support arranged for the student in need (dependent upon their consent). During these meetings, the Pastoral Team also reviews attendance and sick days, in order to spot patterns that may indicate a pastoral concern.

For specialised support, the school cooperates with external providers such as counsellors (see section on external support).



5 Mental health education

Brockwood is committed to raise awareness and educate its students and staff about mental health issues and general wellbeing. Specific activities for students and staff are listed below.

5.1 For students

All students receive education on mental health issues during their stay at Brockwood. This consists of presentations in school meetings and longer ATWAM sessions on mental health (at least once each academic year). The topic is also covered in detail in the *Healthy Living* course which is a fundamental part of our youngest students' learning programme (i.e., students between 14 and 16 years of age). When preparing lessons and activities on mental health, we use resources from the <u>UK government</u> and the <u>PSHE Association</u> and adhere to best practice principles.

We aim to always follow the following principles laid out by the PSHE Association to create a safe environment in the PSHE classroom.

- Ground rules all students will be made aware of certain ground rules when discussing topics related to mental health (e.g. the right to pass, the necessity to use correct terminology)
- Distancing techniques issues will be raised in a non-personal way, using distancing techniques such as stories and scenarios with characters that students can relate to in terms of age and cultural background
- Handling questions safely teachers are trained to handle tricky questions in a safe manner (e.g. using ask-it baskets, or buying time by answering tricky questions one-on-one outside the lesson time)
- Signpost support teachers always signpost relevant ways of support and resources to students when talking about mental health related issues

5.1.1 Mental health presentation and essentials

The first 10 days of each academic year follow a special timetable in which the school organises many introductory activities that serve for all members of the school to get to know each other, and as an induction to the school and its different aspects (pastoral, curriculum, etc.) to the students. As part of this induction, the Pastoral Coordinator presents to all students some essential points regarding their overall wellbeing during their stay at Brockwood. In this presentation, it is explained what Brockwood considers wellbeing and what the different routes for students are to get support if they are going through emotional difficulties or feel the need to talk to someone about problems they have. The roles of the Pastoral Coordinator, DSL and the Independent Listener are explained, and the different external services are mentioned (online or in-house counselling, as well as other online and phone services such as Childline and Kooth). Within the school set-up, students can access support in a variety of

ways and they are encouraged to raise difficulties with any staff member, and to seek supportark School from the Pastoral Coordinator if they ever feel the need.

5.1.2 ATWAMs on mental health

Every year, the school organises at least one longer educational activity on mental health related topics for the whole school. This may also include events with guest speakers. These activities will always touch on the essentials (see above), remind students of how and where they can get support and emphasise the school's support systems, but focus on different aspects. This includes the following topics as pointed out in the *PSHE/RSE policy*:

- Feelings / Emotions
 - a. Difference between feeling and emotions
 - b. How feelings affect our thinking / vice versa
 - c. How feelings affect behaviour
 - d. Are there good or bad feelings/emotions?
- Stress and anxiety; coping mechanisms
- Depression and low mood
- Psychological first aid and where to get help

5.1.3 Healthy Living classes

All students under the age of 16 attend the weekly Healthy Living classes. The two-year course includes basic education on mental health and emotional wellbeing.

In Year 10 (first year of the course), students explore topics that support mental health, including sleep and health prevention, self-esteem and social media, addictions, peer influence, and healthy relationships.

See below for an excerpt from a recent scheme of work, showing activities related to mental health in Year 11 (second year of the course):

(From YEAR 11 - 1st Term / First Half)

- 1. Introduction to Year 11 and Mental Health
 - a. Overview of Year 11, understanding mental health, stigma
- 2. Coping with Anxiety and Depression
 - a. Identifying and managing anxiety and depression
- 3. Stress and Stress Management
 - a. Techniques for managing stress
 - b. Includes the benefits of spending time in nature (Nature Deficit Disorder)
- 4. Resilience and Emotional Wellbeing
 - a. Building resilience, maintaining emotional wellbeing
- 5. Seeking Help and Supporting Peers
 - a. How to seek help, supporting friends with mental health issues
- 6. Body Image
 - a. Body changes, social media influence, and body image issues



5.2 For staff

All residential school staff receive regular training on mental health issues and support. This can include topics like self-harm, eating disorders, and others related to the general wellbeing of adolescents. The training is usually conducted or organised by the Pastoral Coordinator who regularly undergoes training in the areas of mental health, trauma, brain development and emotional wellbeing.

At least once a year, the school asks staff to do a mental health related training or to attend a session with a mental health professional as part of their continuing development. Over the course of the year, several sessions are organised for staff to discuss mental health issues and support with each other, to share experiences and skills related to this topic. Additionally, during weekly staff meetings, ways on how to better support our students are discussed, as well as more specific topics. All these are instrumental in the identification and first response to mental health issues in students, as well as passing on that information urgently to the Pastoral Coordinator.

6 Response to Complex Mental Health Issues

6.1 Suicide Risk

In the event that a student is judged by the Infirmary Team, Pastoral Coordinator, Health Professionals or the Safeguarding team to be at risk of attempting suicide, or posing harm to themselves or others, confidentiality shall be breached.

- The appropriate staff members shall be informed and a meeting called with the parents as soon as possible.
- The student shall be referred to the local GP and the school shall observe and follow their medical advice.
- An assessment shall be made in conjunction with parents (and when considered appropriate, a health professional) as to whether the student shall be able to continue to board. The school reserves final say on whether or not it is appropriate for a student to remain at the school.

Protocol for students on site identified as having suicidal thoughts:

In some cases, students may have suicidal thoughts and be deemed okay to remain under the schools care. Whilst under the care of the school we shall observe the following protocol.

- If a student expresses suicidal thoughts to a member of staff this should be shared with the Pastoral & Safeguarding team immediately.
- Parents shall be informed (unless a safeguarding risk is posed), a review of the students capacity to board undertaken, a risk assessment & care plan shall be completed. Parents shall be updated regularly.



- The school would strongly advise support from a professional such as Park School Psychotherapist or Psychiatrist.
- Students in our care who are considered 'safe to board' with suicidal thoughts should meet weekly with the pastoral / infirmary team for regular check ins.
- Both morning and evening staff should check in with the student during their rounds..
- If the student does not turn up for class, school meetings or meals Pastoral staff should be informed immediately.
- If a student's health deteriorates, parents shall be contacted and another review of a student's capacity to board shall be conducted.

6.2 Self Harm

Self harm is a complex issue and can manifest as a novel or historical behaviour. Students with a history of self harm can demonstrate a return to these patterns of behaviour when placed under stress. However, it is clear that in some instances, when supported correctly, these patterns of behaviour can subside. Brockwood offers a safe and nurturing environment that for many students, can be healing. Whilst we endeavour to support students through their difficulties, due to the nature of self-harm, confidentiality shall be breached and the student shall be assessed as to whether they can continue to board.

In the case of self harm, staff shall observe the following protocol:

- If a student informs a staff member that they are self-harming both the pastoral and safeguarding team should be informed immediately.
- A care plan, risk assessment & capacity to board review shall be completed in conjunction with parents (unless a safeguarding risk is posed by informing parents).
- The school shall strongly advise support from a professional mental health practitioner such as a psychotherapist or psychiatrist.
- The student who is self harming shall be asked to meet with a trusted staff member each week to check their cuts and ensure they are clean.
- A student shall be asked to remove sharp objects from their room and students in shared accommodation shall be supported & supervised. If necessary students in shared accommodation shall be moved.
- If a student's health deteriorates, another capacity to board review shall be completed.

The safety and welfare of every student is our foremost priority, and we recognise that incidents of self-harm can affect the wider school community. When planning any intervention, we therefore consider the risk of "shared methods" and the possible normalisation of self-harm as a coping strategy. Brockwood's small size, its mixed-age environment and the close proximity in which pupils live and learn mean that, on rare occasions, it may be necessary, for the benefit of both the individual student and the community, to ask a student to return home to access appropriate professional support. Any

such decision will be taken jointly by the Co-Chairs, the Designated Safeguarding Lead, the School Pastoral Coordinator, and, where appropriate, the student's parents and a relevant health professional. Ultimately, the school retains the final decision on whether a student may continue to board.

7 External support

As pointed out above, most students are well supported through the unique atmosphere at Brockwood, characterised by a sense of care among all members of the community. Some students, however, need specialised support which our residential staff members can sometimes not provide due to lack of time or expertise. For this reason, the school cooperates with professionals in the field of mental health and emotional wellbeing.

These include two counsellors, with long-term associations with Brockwood who are available for sessions online.

The external support is organised and supervised by the Pastoral Coordinator. Parents are made aware of the support during an online meeting at the beginning of each year and kept informed throughout the year whenever private support sessions are organised.

Should a student wish to speak anonymously to an external person, the school has an independent listener whose name and details are always available on the school board in the Pastoral section.

Other child support services such as <u>Childline</u> and <u>Help at Hand</u> are regularly signposted to our students during classes and ATWAMs, and through posters and signs on our school notice board.

8 Safeguarding and confidentiality

When students suffer from a more serious mental health condition (like self-harm, eating disorders, etc.), safeguarding is often an important consideration, usually when the student is either at risk of harm or considered a threat to himself or others. Staff members are expected to identify such situations and follow the school's *Safeguarding & Child Protection Policy*.

All staff work closely to best support students and information is shared to provide a wider support network for students who seek help. This is explained to students with the intent of enabling them to receive more support. When a referral to the DSL is necessary, and before communicating with parents, the student is informed in advance and is given the reasons why this is necessary. According to the need and in consultation with the student, a safety plan is put in place and closely monitored.

Concerns shared directly and privately by the student with our school counsellors or our life coach, remain confidential. Exceptions may only apply (and these circumstances are explained at the initial appointment and at the time of disclosure) when there is a perceived

risk or danger to self or to others, or a disclosure is made which falls under the *Children Acark School* 1989, in which case the Designated Safeguarding Lead (DSL) in the school will be notified.

9 Suitability and reasonable adjustments

At Brockwood the wellbeing and mental health of our students is of utmost importance. However, while we strive to provide a supportive environment, we want to acknowledge that the school may not be a suitable place for young people who require extensive mental health support.

It is essential that mental health history and specific mental health needs are disclosed during the admissions process so the school can evaluate whether it can fully support the applicant according to their specific needs. All relevant information must be shared to help the school assess suitability and prepare appropriate support plans. Failure to provide this information may limit the school's ability to offer the right support or, in some cases, to offer or maintain a place.

Once enrolled, parents can help by sharing more details about any mental health needs and history with the Pastoral Coordinator via a pastoral file/questionnaire which will be shared with all parents at the beginning of the school year. If a student has a diagnosis (such as depression, ADHD or anxiety), parents and the student will be asked to complete an Individual Care Plan in collaboration with the school. The care plan will include ways to support the students as well as convey how to respond in emergency situations.

The school will make reasonable adjustments, and in many cases additional adaptations, to support students with specific mental health needs. The school is committed to offering appropriate support and working collaboratively with students, their families, and external professionals to ensure their wellbeing. However, there are limitations to the level of support that can be provided within our resources and expertise.

The school cannot accept responsibility for students whose mental health needs substantially limit their ability to participate safely and consistently in school and community life. Additionally, students who present an ongoing risk to their own safety or the safety of others may not be able to receive the necessary support within our school setting.

In cases where obtaining suitable mental health support at Brockwood becomes challenging, the school may need to ask the student to return to their family and for the family to organise specialist support at home. This decision will be made in consultation with the student, their family, and relevant professionals involved in their care, ensuring that their wellbeing and safety are prioritised.



10 Appendices

10.1 Mental Health Recognition and Response procedure (Annex A)

Brockwood Park School - Mental Health Recognition and Response Procedure- Annex A

A staff member (teacher, floor staff, student adviser, pastoral) observes certain behaviours in a student that makes them suspect a possible underlying mental health issue.

E.g. infirmary or school staff might notice a change in attendance (for example to morning meetings, or an increase in sick days.



The staff member reports these observations to the pastoral team, or shares their concern in the weekly staff meeting where students are discussed.



Pastoral staff discuss the case in a pastoral meeting, and carry out an assessment. This can be in the form of a conversation with the student, their adviser, the parents or other staff at the school, in order to find out more about the student's background and needs.



Pastoral staff, in a subsequent meeting, discusses the case again and design a plan, often in collaboration with the adviser. If appropriate, this plan gets shared with the rest of the staff body, or with certain individuals.



Pastoral staff as well as floor people, teachers, adviser carry out the actions set out in the plan, which might be regularly checking in with the student, organising external support (e.g. counselling) or supporting the student with their individual plan.



Pastoral staff (and adviser) regularly reviews the case in pastoral meetings to evaluate effectiveness of provision and make changes.

10.2 Mental Health Support sheet for students 2025/26 (for school notice board)

Pastoral Coordinator as first point of contact

- Charley
- Our Pastoral Coordinator also acts as mental health lead he has in-depth training in mental health matters and can help you find the right support, either within the school or using external services

Independent Person

- The Independent Person is a person outside the staff, whom students may contact directly about personal problems or concerns at school
- Our current Independent Listener is Anne Green
 - o Tel: 0797-666-7473

Online Counselling

- Please contact Charley to organise sessions with Celeste or Amanda if you feel you would like to try it out, a trial session can be arranged (often free of charge)
 - Celeste Calvet wellbeing coach and counsellor (<u>celeste@innerbloom.org.uk</u>)
 - Amanda Cozens counsellor (amandacozenscounselling@gmail.com)

External services

- Childline
 - o https://www.childline.org.uk/ (Tel: 0800 1111)
 - Free phone and online counselling services for people under 19
- Help at Hand
 - o https://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/help-at-hand/ (Tel: 0800 528 0731)
 - Free and confidential service (email: help.team@childrenscommissioner.gov.uk)
- Kooth
 - o https://www.kooth.com
 - Free online counselling services
- Shout
 - o https://giveusashout.org/ (Tel: 85258 for text messages)
 - Free mental health support through text messages

Information on mental health

- YoungMinds https://youngminds.org.uk
- Mind https://www.mind.org.uk/
- Anna Freud Centre (resources for young people) https://www.annafreud.org/resources/children-and-young-peoples-wellbeing/
- Stem4 https://stem4.org.uk
- CAMHS resources https://www.camhs-resources.co.uk/